
 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
 
Date Friday 25 March 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham  

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the press and public 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on Friday 18 February 2022      
(Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Number of Looked After Children - Verbal update from Head of 
Children's Social Care   

6. Ofsted Updates - Verbal update from Head of Children's Social 
Care   

7. Proud Moments - Verbal update from Strategic Manager, Looked 
After Children Resources   

8. Investing in Children / Children in Care Council Update - 
Presentation by Project Officer, Investing in Children             
(Pages 11 - 14) 

9. Performance Update Quarter 3 - Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 15 - 30) 

10. Fostering Update: - Verbal update from Head of Children's Social 
Care   

 a) Feedback from Foster Care awards, 9 March, Gala Theatre   

 b) Feedback on Fostering TV advert   

 c) Overview of Mockingbird model and consultation work   

11. Annual Health Report  - Report of Designated Nurse for Children 
Looked After, County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  
(Pages 31 – 68) 



12. Care Leavers' Hub - Presentation by Head of Children's Social 
Care  (Pages 69 - 74) 

13. Virtual School Sub-group proposals to reflect operational 
arrangements for early years / post 16 - Verbal update from  
Head of Children's Social Care   

14. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

15. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 

 
16. Regulation 44 visits and Regulatory Body ratings of Children's 

Residential homes - Report of Head of Children's Social Care and 
Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children         
(Pages 75 - 96) 

17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
17 March 2022 
 
 
To: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

 
 Councillor M Simmons (Chair) 

Councillor M Walton (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors R Adcock-Forster, B Bainbridge, C Bell, J Charlton, 
B Coult, S Deinali, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, 
T Henderson, C Hood, C Hunt, J Miller, I Roberts, K Robson, 
K Rooney, S Townsend and C Varty 

 
 Co-opted Members  
 C Baines, J Bell, L Burns, A Ferguson, W Taylor  

Young persons representative - Children in Care Council CiCC) 

 Contact: Jill Hogg Tel: 03000 269 711 

 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At a Meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in the Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Friday 18 February 2022 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor M Simmons (Chair) 

 

Members of the Panel: 

Councillors M Walton (Vice-Chair), R Adcock-Forster, B Bainbridge, J Charlton, 
B Coult, S Deinali, C Fletcher, C Hunt, J Miller, K Robson, K Rooney and C Varty 
 
Co-Opted Members: 
A Ferguson, W Taylor and C Gray and L Joseph representing the Children in Care 
Council  
 
Also Present: 
Laura Armstrong – Professional Practice Manager  
Jane Ayres - Strategic Manager for Children and Families  
Laura Caunce – Service Manager, Children and Young People’s Service 
Kelsey Clayton – Legal Services Manager  
Sharon Davey - Operations Manager, Children and Young People’s Service 
Helen Ferguson - Head of Children’s Social Care 
Robert Johnson – Project Manager, Investing in Children 
Claire Morris – Strategic Manager, Looked After Children Resources  
Fiona Smith – Operations Manager, One Point Service  
Martyn Stenton - Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 
Melanie Stubbs – Head of the Virtual School  
Jayne Watson – Senior Partnerships Officer  
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bell, Griffiths, Gunn, 
Henderson, Hood, Roberts and Townsend and from co-opted members Chris 
Baines and Julie Bell. 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
Councillor Surtees was present as substitute for Councillor Roberts. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



3 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.   
 
Under matters arising, in relation to agenda item 10, it was reported that 
further information on support for care leavers had been circulated to the 
Panel for information, following the meeting. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
No interests were declared. 
 

5 Number of Looked After Children  
 
The Head of Children’s Social Care informed the Panel that the number of 
children looked after stood at 956 which was an increase on the figure 
reported in January.  This increase followed recent changes to caselaw 
which had resulted in delays to adoption proceedings.  It is expected that the 
increase will be temporary whilst the changes are implemented.  
 

6 Ofsted Updates  
 

The Panel noted no new Ofsted reports had been published since the last 
meeting. 
 
Updating on other matters, the Head of Children’s Social Care referred to the 
discussion at the last meeting regarding the foster carer recruitment 
campaign and highlighted that an advertising hoarding had been installed at 
the entrance to County Hall, to advertise Durham County Council’s fostering 
service.  In addition, TV adverts will be aired at the end of February and in 
May, to further support the recruitment campaign.   
 
The Panel noted that a report on the national Independent Inquiry into Child 
Sexual Abuse which will include Durham County Council’s response, will be 
considered by the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in March.  A progress update on issues pertaining to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel will be provided in due course.   
 

7 Proud Moments  
 
The Strategic Manager for Looked After Children Resources shared proud 
moments from an event which took place at a Children’s Home which had 
recently benefited from a bathroom refurbishment.  The young people were 
so happy with their new bathroom facilities that they arranged an official 
opening event to celebrate. 

Page 4



The event included a ceremonial ribbon-cutting, handing over of the 
ceremonial ‘toilet roll’ and a tea party.  Staff were proud at the effort the 
young people had made and they were pleased to see how much they value 
their home, which emphasises how important it is that the young people are 
provided with the highest quality facilities possible. 
 

8 Investing in Children / Children in Care Council Update  
 

The Chair introduced Rob Johnson, Project Manager for Investing in Children 
and Caitlyn and Luke from the Children in Care Council.  Members 
welcomed Luke to his first meeting, saying they were looking forward to 
working with him and hearing his feedback.  The Chair was pleased to report 
that Mitchell is now studying at University and he was thanked for all his hard 
work and support.   
 
Caitlyn and Luke delivered a presentation, highlighting the work of the two 
CiCC meetings held during January (for copy see file of minutes). 
 

• Meetings were held with the younger and older groups and both 
groups agreed on the CiCC’s expectations for 2022.  Further 
information on the expectations will be shared with the Panel in the 
future. 

 

• The younger group is focusing on the ‘all about me’ photography 
project and they are looking at ways to present information about the 
key messages of the project to a future meeting of the Panel.   

 

• The young people are continuing to deliver awareness raising sessions 
to Sunderland University social work students.  

 

• Work is ongoing on the Full Circle therapy room enhancements, with 
workshops scheduled to take place during half term. 

 

• Care leavers had reviewed the local offer to inform future strategic 
planning and they requested that Members continue to promote the 
local offer. 

 

• The young people had discussed ideas for their involvement in 
Durham County Council’s City of Culture bid. Suggestions had 
included the creation of a Time Capsule to be opened in 2075, an idea 
which the young people would very much like Members to support.  
Caitlyn explained that the time capsule would chronicle current events 
and include young people’s experiences, which may be particularly 
poignant due to the recent pandemic. The young people expressed 
that they would like to connect their heritage with the Council’s vision 
for the future. 

Page 5



 

The Project Manager for Investing in Children explained the idea  
materialised through discussions with partners at Durham University. 
Whilst the hope is that the bid will be successful, the young people feel 
this project would be of benefit, irrespective of whether the bid is 
successful. 

 
Members spoke in support of the Time Capsule 2075 proposal and 
Councillor Surtees suggested that the young people may wish to explore 
links with Durham History Centre, to help to develop their ideas.   
 
Councillor Walton referred to the local offer and asked what more the young 
people would like to see done, to enhance the offer.  The Head of Children’s 
Social Care explained that a group of young people had worked with 
Strategic Managers to investigate how Durham’s local offer compares with 
other regions. They found that Durham has a strong offer and compares 
favourably, however, they identified five actions that could be introduced to 
enhance the offer.  One of the suggestions was to look at the possibility of 
enabling a friend to accompany the young person to gym / leisure activities 
as many young people would feel happier participating in these activities if 
they were accompanied by a friend and this would also help to combat 
loneliness. Further information on this work will be provided at a future 
meeting of the Panel.   

 
Councillor Miller referred to a local history event taking place within his 
division and commented on the local history resources available within 
communities which Members could help the young people to access.  He 
also extended an invite to the young people to visit the heritage centre in 
Wheatley Hill.  
 

9 Place Based Approach to Early Help for Children and Families in 
Durham  
 
The Panel received a report and presentation from the Operations Manager, 
One Point Service which provided an update on the place based approach to 
early help for children and families (for copy of report and presentation see 
file of minutes). 
  
The Operations Manager explained the approach is underpinned by the 
national Supporting Families Programme, known in Durham as Stronger 
Families, which offers support to all children, young people and their families 
in County Durham, not only those who are looked after.  The Panel noted 
that Durham’s approach is a multi-agency approach, based on ‘whole’ family 
working which empowers families and builds resilience. 
 
 

Page 6



Describing the work, the Operations Manager commented that in 2020 local 
Early Help Conversations were developed in each team area, using local 
data to understand the geographical area.  The Panel heard how the new 
Team Around the Schools model recognises individual needs of schools and 
pupils within their communities.  Support is given at the earliest opportunity 
through Reducing Parental Conflict Working Groups and by helping families 
to tackle poverty, which can have a major impact on child development.  The 
Operations Manager also highlighted that prevention and early help forums 
were being re-established, following the pandemic.   
 
The Operations Manager spoke of the importance of engaging service users 
and taking their feedback into account.  In the future, work will continue with 
partners and service users to better understand the early help needs of 
families in order to influence service delivery.  
 
Councillor Charlton referred to the Team Around the Schools model and 
asked if this was available to all schools.  The Operations Manager explained 
that this was a pilot project at Windlestone School and that a steering group 
had been established to identify and target priority areas, based upon 
national guidelines. It is hoped to extend the model across the county in the 
future. 
 
Councillor Varty noted how unfortunate it was that so many children and their 
families needed this help, but commended the good work being done to 
provide help at the very earliest opportunity, in this unsettling time for many 
families.  
 
Councillor Walton referred to the early help forums and asked how they are 
accessed.  The Operations Manager replied that three forums are held per 
year, to correspond with school terms.  Work is underway to update mailing 
lists to ensure partner representation is appropriate and that communities are 
well represented.  
 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be noted.  
 

10 Children Looked After with a Disability Annual Update  
 
The Panel received a report and presentation delivered by the Strategic 
Manager for Children and Families and the Professional Practice Manager, 
which provided a summary of the support available for children and young 
people and their families by the Children with Disabilities Service (for copy of 
report and presentation see file). 
 
 

Page 7



 
The Panel noted that since the Ofsted inspection in September 2019, there 
had been significant changes to the service, including additional investment 
in front line staff, the creation of a 0-18 children’s service and a transition 
navigation service which works with disabled young people aged between 
14–25 to smooth their transition from children’s to adult services. 
 
Officers explained the emphasis on the young person’s voice when 
describing their everyday experiences.  The Panel viewed a short video clip 
showing how the Mind of My Own Express App works.  The app allows 
young people to create a profile page and to share their thoughts directly with 
those that care for them. 
 
Officers informed the Panel how the culture of the service aims to promote 
good relationships with the young people and their families and strives to 
maintain the same social worker throughout.  Feedback tools had been 
developed and comments from young people include that that their social 
worker is fun, that they feel reassured by the stability through maintaining the 
same social worker and they appreciate the opportunities they are given to 
gain their independence, whilst knowing their social work is there for support. 
Carers have reported that team members are kind and offer guidance to 
other avenues of support in instances where a child does not meet the 
criteria.  
 
Councillor Walton was pleased to see the service is very much led by 
suggestions for improvements from the young people, their families and 
carers and asked what challenges this posed.  The Strategic Manager 
explained that one of the main challenges is the development of direct work 
with young people with communication difficulties, to ensure their true voices, 
wishes and feelings are heard.  She added that there had been a good 
response to the app, however it is accepted that it is not suitable for all and 
work was continuing to develop the app.  
 
Councillor Bainbridge asked for information on caseloads.  The Strategic 
Manager explained that caseloads were difficult to quantify as some young 
people have an allocated family support worker and a review and monitor 
service is also in operation, however, she offered to provide further 
information to Councillor Bainbridge after the meeting.  
 
Councillor Coult asked whether the young people are provided with IT 
facilities to access the app.  The Service Manager responded that the 
Express App is accessed through a social worker’s account and whilst the 
Mind of My Own One App may be accessed independently by the young 
person, the young people in the Children and Disabilities Team use the 
Express App, alongside their workers.   
 

Page 8



Resolved:  
 
That the report be noted.  
 

11 Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service  
 

The Panel received the Annual Report of the Independent Reviewing Officer 
Service presented by the Operations Manager which provided an update on 
the role of the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service in supporting and 
challenging the work of Children’s Social Care.   
 
All children and young people that become looked after must have an IRO 
appointed. The service seeks to ensure that children in care and foster care 
reviews are timely and carried out in the best interests of the child.  The 
service works hard to help young people and their carers to understand how 
children in care reviews work and an information video, produced with young 
people of the Children in Care Council (CiCC), was shown at the meeting, 
which is also available on the CiCC website.  
 
Members commented that the video was useful, informative and young 
person-friendly. Councillor Walton asked if the video was shown to all 
children looked after. The Operations Manager responded that the aim is to 
show the video to all young people coming into care at their IRO placement 
visit which takes place before the first formal meeting.   
   

Resolved:  
 
That the report be noted.  
 

12 Any other business  
 
The Chair announced that Claire Morris, Strategic Manager for Looked After 
Children Resources was leaving the authority and the Panel thanked Claire 
her for all her hard work and wished her well for the future.   
 

13 Exclusion of the public  
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely discussion of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 
 

Page 9



14 Regulation 44 Visits and Regulatory Body Ratings of Children's 
Residential Homes  
 
The Panel considered the report of the Head of Children’s Social Care which 
provided a monthly update on Regulation 44 visits and regulatory body 
ratings (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
Councillor Hunt volunteered to undertake Regulation 44 visits at the new 
children’s home, The Manse at Coxhoe. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the report be received. 
 

Page 10



Presentation by Caitlyn and Luke 

CiCC CPP representatives

and Robert Johnson ~ Investing in Children

Durham Children in Care Council (CICC) – Feb- March Highlights 22

• CICC members completed the Full Circle project.  Undertaking 

a graffiti style workshop In half term – developing a mural for 

the teams new meeting room. A planned opening will take 

place in July 22.   

• CICC members have supported the development of a film 

about the importance of brothers and sisters being in care 

together.    

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 8



CICC Highlights February/ March 21.

• 10 Education Fun Fund applications have been 

submitted and all were successful. Some of the 

educational activities that will be funded include cake 

making and singing lessons- it will reopen again to 

applications in April.

• IIC Care Day will be taking place on 9th April. 

Workshops are taking place in build up to support 

young people to speak at the event.  We ask CPP 

members to attend via the link

• https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/care-day-showcase-

event-tickets-275587167637

• Another Artstop project has been secured with 

additional funding – facilitated through IIC Art and 

Wellbeing Café.    

P
age 12

https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/care-day-showcase-event-tickets-275587167637


Durham Children in Care Council Feb/ March  22

• A CICC member is a keynote speaker at a conference 

organised by the Durham Constabulary regarding care 

experienced young people and safety.   

• 6 CICC members came together with Foster Team members 

to review the training offered by CICC.

• CICC ask of CPP this month its to gain insight into and 

understand challenges faced by young people when their 

home (placement) breaks down and whether more can be 

done to reduce this. 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

 25 March 2022 

Performance Update 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources, Durham County 
Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the presentation is to provide the Corporate Parenting 
Panel with an overview of performance in relation to children looked 
after and care leavers. 

Executive summary 

2 The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager will deliver a 
presentation at the meeting giving an overview of performance. 

Recommendation(s) 

3 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to note 
information contained within the presentation and comment accordingly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



Background 

4 A quarterly performance management framework is presented to 
Corporate Parenting Panel which is structured around the Local 
Government Association’s Key Lines of Enquiry for Corporate Parenting 
Panel members. 

Conclusion 

5 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will be sighted on 
performance in relation to children looked after and care leavers and will 
have an opportunity to discuss performance at the meeting. 

Other useful documents 

• Quarterly Performance Scorecard 

 

Author 

Stephen Tracey   Tel:  03000 268 029 

  

Page 16



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

We have a statutory duty to comply with all duties in relation to the children 

and young people who are in the care of DCC    

Finance 

N/A 

Consultation 

N/A 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

N/A 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



County Durham Corporate Parenting Panel: Performance Management Framework

What are the characteristics of our cohort of children in care and care leavers?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Rate of CLA per 10,000 u18 population [Number]
82.9
[833]

90
[914]

93
[949]

92.7
[937]

90
[912]

93
[940]

67 
(2020/21)

108
(2020/21)

103
(2020/21)

Age and length of time in care See chart 1 See chart 1 See chart 1
See 

presentation N/A N/A N/A

CLA Placement breakdown See chart 2 See chart 2 See chart 2 
See 

presentation N/A N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA placed over 20 miles (outside LA boundary) 7 10 9%
Reported 
Annually

Reported 
Annually

Reported 
Annually

16%
(2020/21)

10%
(2020/21)

9%
(2020/21)

Number of children placed for adoption 25 75 39 34 32 38 N/A N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA who are unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
[Number] u18

0.4%
[3]

0.1%
[1/914]

0.1%
[1/949]

0.6%
[5/900]

1%
[9/917]

1.2%
[11/905]

5%
(2020/21)

1%
(2020/21)

2%
(2020/21)

Social worker caseloads See chart 3 See chart 3 See chart 3
See 

presentation N/A N/A N/A

P
age 19



Do our partner agencies understand their role in supporting us as corporate parents?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of CLA with a missing incident during the year 5.0% 5.5% 7.0%
Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

10%
(2020/21)

10%
(2020/21)

9%
(2020/21)

Percentage of children on Child Exploitation and Vulnerability Tracker 
that were CLA

15.9%
[24/151]

17.2%
[29/169]

19%
[41/216]

Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire - Average score NND 13.6 14.0
Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

14
(2020/21)

14
(2020/21)

14
(2020/21)

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of looked after children aged 10 and above convicted or 
subject to a Youth Caution or Youth Conditional Caution during the year 
[number of children]*

4.6%
[17]

3%
[11]

3%
[11]

3%
[12]

3%
[10]

3%
[14]

2%
(2020/21)

3%
(2020/21)

3%
(2020/21)

*Benchmarking data relates to 2020/21 during COVID Pandemic/lockdowns

How are we giving children and young people the chance to express their views, wishes and feelings? How do we know those are being acted on?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20
2020/21

[Provisional]
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Number of CLA accessing an independent visitor 16
21 matched

12 in 
progress

9 matched
2 in progress

9 matched

P
age 20



Are we providing stable environments for children in our care?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of CLA with 3 or more placements during the year
10.7%

[90 of 840]
7.6%

[70 / 922]
8%
[73]

10.5%
[98]

10%
[91]

10.5%
[99]

9%
(2020/21)

8%
(2020/21)

8%
(2020/21)

Percentage of CLA continuously for 2.5 years or more aged under 16 who 
were living in the same placement for at least 2 years

63.9%
[195 of 305]

59.8
[ 201 / 336]

67%
[225]

64.6%
[265]

72%
[302]

67%
[348]

70%
(2020/21)

67%
(2020/21)

68%
(2020/21)

Average number of days between a child entering care and moving in 
with its adoptive family, adjusted for foster carer adoptions (A10) [Last 12 
months]

430
[2015-18]

428
[2016-19]

439
[2018-2021]

417 396 454
451

(Sep21)
N/A N/A

Average time between an LA receiving court authority to place a child 
and the LA deciding on a match to an adoptive family (A2) [Last 12 
months]

NND
192

[2016-19]
178

[2018-2021]
122 119 159

213
(Sep21)

N/A N/A

Percentage of children adopted from care (as % of total children leaving 
care) [number of children adopted shown in brackets]

12.3
[39 of 316]

16%
[55 / 352]

18%
[54 / 304]

23.8%
[24]

21%
[41]

20.4%
[57]

10%
(2020/21)

13%
(2020/21)

13%
(2020/21)

Number of Mainstream Foster Carers (Approved in period YTD) 26 12 21 5 11 17 N/A N/A N/A

Number of Friends and Family Foster Carers (Approved in period YTD) 52 91 145 48 85 104 N/A N/A N/A

Number of Adopters (Approved in period YTD) 22 25 47 10 16 30 N/A N/A N/A

P
age 21



What are we doing to look after the health and wellbeing of children in our care?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Initial Health Assessments completed within 20 working days of the child 
becoming looked after

63% 73% 73% 57% 57% 63% N/A N/A N/A

CLA with the required number of health assessments 91% 94% 91% 90% 92% 92%
91%

(2020/21)
94%

(2020/21)
94%

(2020/21)

CLA who have had a dental check 85.5% 87% 41% 53% 65% 70%
40%

(2020/21)
43%

(2020/21)
41%

(2020/21)

CLA whose immunisations were up-to-date 99.3% 99.0% 90.0%
Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

86%
(2020/21)

89%
(2020/21)

91%
(2020/21)

CLA whose development assessments were up to date 95.0% 97.0% 83.0%
Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

89%
(2020/21)

92%
(2020/21)

98%
(2020/21)

% CLA identified as having a substance misuse problem in the year 1.9% 2.0% TBC*
Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

Reported 
annually

3%
(2020/21)

3%
(2020/21)

4%
(2020/21)

Percentage of new presentations to drug and alcohol treatment during 
period who were CLA [Number] YTD

10%
[18 of 185]

10%
[21 of 216]

TBC
20%

[8/40]
17%

[12/69]
16%

[17/107]
44%

(2020/21)
33%

(2020/21)
37%

(2020/21)

Care leavers aged 17-21 who are pregnant or mothers (as a % of female 
care leavers)

26.3%
[25/95]

24.8%
[29/117]

29.5%
[33/112]

27%
(32/120)

N/A N/A N/A

Care leavers aged 17-25 who are pregnant or mothers (as a % of female 
care leavers)

27.6%
[37/134]

30.5%
[39/128]

28%
(38/137)

N/A N/A N/A

P
age 22



What are outcomes like for our care leavers?

Measure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Q1

2021/22
Q2

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
England North East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of care leavers age 18-21 who have stayed
with their foster carer

N/A N/A N/A 12.0% 14.0%
17%
[41]

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in education, employment or 
training (EET)

63.9%
[53 of 83]

65%
[ 55 / 84 ]

76%
[ 59 / 78]

71% 70% 65%
65%

(2020/21)
63%

(2020/21)
63%

(2020/21)

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in suitable accommodation
96.4%

[80 of 83]
90%

[ 76 / 84 ]
95%

[74 / 78]
95% 93% 92%

91%
(2020/21)

94%
(2020/21)

93%
(2020/21)

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in higher education
0%
[0]

0%
[0]

0%
[0 / 78]

4% 12% 16%
4%

(2020/21)
4%

(2020/21)
0%

(2020/21)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in education, employment or 
training (EET)

54.0%
[87 of 161]

54%
[ 94 / 175 ]

56%
[110 / 197]

59% 60% 60%
52%

(2020/21)
50%

(2020/21)
54%

(2020/21)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation
94.4%

[152 of 161]
83%

[ 144 / 174 ]
90%

[177 / 196]
93% 93% 93%

88%
(2020/21)

91%
(2020/21)

92%
(2020/21)

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in higher education
8.7%

[14 of 161]
9%

[16 / 175 ]
6%

[11 / 197]
8% 7% 7%

6%
(2020/21)

7%
(2020/21)

8%
(2020/21)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Children Looked After
Corporate Parenting Panel

Q3 2021-22

P
age 25



Children Looked After: 940 11 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

Apr-Dec21

Durham Durham England SN NE

% Age: Under 1 24 29 20 22 23

% Age: 1 to 4    20 20 18 24 23

% Age: 5 to 9    21 21 17 22 22

% Age: 10 to 15  22 22 26 24 23

% Age: 16 and over 13 8 20 9 8

2020/21

Reducing u1 CLA starts as % of all CLA starts

Increase in overall number of CLA but rate remains 
below regional and statistical neighbour average

330 children became looked after
348 children left care in 2021

This will increase as UASC move to Durham through 
the National Transfer Scheme

All Social Workers in our Children in Care and Care Leavers Teams had fewer than 25 cases, 57% had less than 20

P
age 26



Placement Type No. % No. % No. %

External Residential 31 4% 38 4% 66 7% 35 113% 28 74%

Friends and Family 134 15% 126 14% 138 15% 4 3% 12 10%

Unapproved Carers 5 1% 10 1% 2 0% -3 -60% -8 -80%

IFA 126 15% 159 18% 162 17% 36 29% 3 2%

In House Foster Care 422 49% 430 48% 381 41% -41 -10% -49 -11%

In House Residential 31 4% 26 3% 28 3% -3 -10% 2 8%

Independent Living 9 1% 8 1% 4 0% -5 -56% -4 -50%

NHS/Health Trust 2 0% 1 0% 2 0% 0 0% 1 100%

Placed For Adoption 24 3% 23 3% 39 4% 15 63% 16 70%

Placed With Parents 66 8% 62 7% 74 8% 8 12% 12 19%

Full Care Order 57 7% 47 5% 51 5% -6 -11% 4 9%

Interim Care Order 9 1% 15 2% 23 2% 14 156% 8 53%

Residential School 2 0% 2 0% 0 0% -2 -100% -2 -100%

Secure 1 0% 1 0% 5 1% 4 400% 4 400%

Supported Lodgings 12 1% 15 2% 39 4% 27 225% 24 160%

YOI/Prison 1 0% 1 0% 0 0% -1 -100% -1 -100%

Grand Total 866 100% 902 100% 940 100% 74 9% 38 4%

% change

pre-COVID

June 2019 March 2020 December 2021 No. 

change 

% change 

on Jun19

No. 

change 

Placement Trends

CLA placements out of borough

24 26 25 25 27 26

0

10

20

30

40

50

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Latest

snapshot

%
 o

f 
o

p
e
n

 C
L
A

SNs Eng LA

P
age 27



Age Mar-20 Jan-22 % Diff

0 79 60 -24%

1 46 56 22%

2 48 27 -44%

3 34 35 3%

4 34 32 -6%

5 34 37 9%

6 39 27 -31%

7 35 43 23%

8 57 54 -5%

9 35 39 11%

10 49 57 16%

11 59 47 -20%

12 58 54 -7%

13 62 71 15%

14 59 80 36%

15 54 68 26%

16 57 73 28%

17 63 73 16%

902 933 3%

An age breakdown of all children in care at 
Mar20 and Jan22 shows an overall 3% increase 
in CLA but a 31% increase in 14-15 year olds

Older children are more likely to experience 
placement breakdowns and this has impacted 
on our latest placement stability data with more 
children having experienced 3 or more 
placement moves in the last 12 months

Age and Placement Stability

67 67 70 68.4 67

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Durham Current Durham England Statistical
Neighbours

North East

% Children looked after for at least 2.5 years and 
aged under 16 who have been in the same 

placement for at least 2 years

P
age 28



Missing Children

Return to 
Home 

Interviews

636 
Offered

443 
Accepted

443 
Completed

Initial Health 
Assessments

Highest % of CLA started received their 
IHA in timescale in Q3 in 2021/22 so far 

but further work continues as we want to 
continue to improve thisP

age 29



Actively working 
with

275
Care Leavers 
aged 17-21

Care LeaversP
age 30



 

             

        

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

25 March 2022  

 Annual Health Report 

  

Report of Designated Nurse for Children Looked After, County 
Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to introduce County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CDCCG) Annual Report for Children In Care 
covering the period of 2020 – 2021. The report outlines the activity that 
has been undertaken in NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), as well as the challenges faced during the year in the 
work to support children in care and those care experienced.  

2 The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 2 

Executive summary 

3 The report is produced in line with duties and responsibilities outlined in 
statutory guidance - Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked 
after Children which is issued to Local Authorities, NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Groups and NHS England under sections 10 and 11 of 
the Children Act 2004 . 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are required to: 

(a) Note the contents of this report and raise any questions for 
discussion.  

 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 11



Background 

5 It is the responsibility of Durham County Council, County Durham CCG 
and commissioned health services to identify and address the unmet 
health needs of Children who become Looked After.  The expected 
outcome is that all Children who become Looked After and who are the 
responsibility of County Durham CCG will experience improved health 
and well-being and have an awareness on how their long-term health 
needs can be addressed as they become adults.  

6 Most children enter the care system as a result of abuse and neglect. 
Although they have many of the same health issues as their peers, the 
extent of these is often greater because of their past adverse childhood 
experiences. For example, almost half of children in care have a 
diagnosable mental health disorder and two-thirds have special 
educational needs. Delays in identifying and meeting a child's emotional 
well-being and mental health needs can have far reaching effects on all 
aspects of their lives, including their chances of reaching their potential 
and leading happy and healthy lives as adults. 

7 Meeting the health needs of children and young people in care requires 
a clear focus on easy access to services. This approach can be 
assisted by commissioning effective services, delivery through provider 
organisations and ensuring availability of individual practitioners to 
provide and co-ordinate care. 

8 CCGs are the main commissioners of health services; however, all 
commissioners of health services should have appropriate 
arrangements and resources in place to meet the physical and mental 
health needs of children in care. 

9 CDCCG commission: 

(a) County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 
to provide: 

(i) Medical services for Children in Care and those with a plan 
of adoption 

(ii) Coordination of all health assessments 

(iii) Review Health Assessments (RHAs) for County Durham 
children living out of the Local Authority boundary but within 
a 20 mile radius 

(b) Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) to 
provide: 

Page 32



(i) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) to 
support children and young people with mental health 
difficulties.  

10 County Durham Local Authority Public Health commission Review 
Health Assessments for County Durham children living within the Local 
Authority boundary from Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 
(HDFT) who provide the Healthy Child 0-25 Service. 

11 Children in Care reports are presented to the Quality Committee on a 
bi-monthly basis to appraise the CCG of current activity and 
developments and include performance reports for NHS commissioned 
health services against the specific Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

12 CCGs are required to provide resources to support the provision of a 
service for children in care. The amount of resource required is clearly 
defined in the Looked After Children: roles and competencies of 
healthcare staff.  In November 2020 a 0.76 WTE dedicated Designated 
Nurse for Children in Care was welcomed into the children in care team.  

13 The overall number of CiC for Durham has remained above the national 
average per 10,000 population. As of the 31st of March 2020, the 
number of CiC per 10,000 was 90 compared with the average for 
England which is 67 per 10,000. 

Number of Durham County Children In Care 2014 – 2021 

 

 

14 Whilst the end of year figures above provides a general overview, 
consideration must be given to children who may enter and leave the 
care system throughout the year so the total number of children cared 
for over each period defined above will be higher. 

Page 33



Conclusion 

15 This annual report will provide an overview of the CiC population both 
nationally and locally and outline the performance of NHS 
commissioned services during 2020-21. 

16 The numbers of Durham CiC have continued to increase year on year 
with 2020-21 seeing further increases. The resources required to deliver 
a quality service to this cohort of children will require continued 
evaluation to ensure this is not compromised. 

17 There has been unprecedented challenges on all services as a direct 
result of the COVID Pandemic.  Despite this, the services delivered to 
children in care have continued to be delivered overall. 

 

Author 

Alison Ferguson  

Designated Nurse for Children In Care 

  

Page 34



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The report is produced in line with duties and responsibilities outlined in statutory 
guidance - Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked after Children which is 
issued to Local Authorities, NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England 
under sections 10 and 11 of the Children Act 2004 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The needs of all young people are considered on an individual basis.  

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

All children have the right to the best possible health. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

Staffing information is contained in Appendix 2 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Non–adherence to statutory duty. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
 

Children in Care Annual Report 
April 2020 – March 2021 

 

 
Author: 

Alison Ferguson - Designated Nurse for Looked After Children 
 
 

Contributions from: 
Heather McFarlane - Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Looked After Children 
 

Karen Watson - Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Looked After Children 
 

Kirsty Yates - Designated Doctor for Looked After Children 

 

August 2021 

 
 

  

Page 37



 

2 
 

Foreword by the Director of Nursing  
 
Welcome to our annual report for children in care 2020-2021. It outlines the activity that 

has been undertaken in NHS County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), as 

well as the challenges we have faced during the year in our work to support children in 

care and those care experienced.  

 

Our commitment to children experiencing care extends across all levels of our 

organisations - from our governing body members to each of our employees. A key focus 

for us is to improve health outcomes for children who have experienced being in care as 

they transition into adulthood by working together with a range of partners across the 

county.  

 

Examples of how this is undertaken are within the report. However, we know there are 

areas where more needs to be achieved and this is reflected in our priorities for the year 

ahead.  

 

Finally, we cannot present this report without referencing the unprecedented challenges 

currently being faced with the COVID-19 pandemic. The country was at the height of the 

pandemic as the financial year commenced and you will read how this has impacted on 

our work and how we continue to respond and adapt to the changing needs of Durham's 

children in care.  

 

 

 

Anne Greenley 

Director of Nursing and Quality - NHS County Durham CCG 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



 

3 
 

 

Contents  

1. Executive Summary ………………………………………………………….….………   4 

2. Introduction and Background……………………………………………….………….      5 

3. Update on Planned Developments ……………………………………….…………...     7 

4. Governance and Accountability ………………………………………….……………     8 

5. Profile of Children in Care ………………………………………………………………    9 

6. Children placed in County Durham from other Local Authorities…………………..    12 

7. Ethnicity ………………………………………………………………………………….    12 

8. Commissioning arrangements of NHS Health Provision for Children in Care in 

County Durham ………………………………………………………………………….  12  

9. Statutory Health Assessments ………………………………………………………...    14 

10. Local Health Indicators …………………………………………………………………. 17 

11. Mental Health Services for Children …………………………………………………..  20 

12. Care Leavers ……………………………………………………………………………..  21  

13. Safeguarding Children in Care ………………………………………………………...   21 

14. Role of Primary Care ……………………………………………………………………    21 

15. Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic …………………………………………………  22 

16. Conclusion ……………………………………………………………………………….  23 

17. Key area for Development in 2021/22 ………………………………………………..  23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

4 
 

1. Executive Summary 

 

1.1. Welcome to the first Annual Report for NHS County Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CDCCG)1. The report is in relation to Children who are 
Looked After by Durham County Council and is authored by the CCG’s Designated 
Nurse for Children Looked After. The Designated Nurse for Children who are 
Looked After has a strategic role and is separate from any clinical responsibilities 
as detailed in the Intercollegiate Role Framework for Looked after Children 
(RCPCH, 2020)2. 
 

1.2. It is the responsibility of Durham County Council, County Durham CCG and 
commissioned health services to identify and address the unmet health needs of 
Children who become Looked After.  The expected outcome is that all Children 
who become Looked After and who are the responsibility of County Durham CCG 
will experience improved health and well-being and have an awareness on how 
their long-term health needs can be addressed as they become adults.  

 

1.3. The purpose of the report is to provide County Durham CCG Governing Body, key 
partners and members of the public with:  

 

• an update on the planned developments identified in the previous CCGs 
Children who are Looked After Annual Report 2019-2020 

• an overview of both the National and local population of Children who are 
Looked After by County Durham Council 

• an outline of the performance of NHS commissioned health services 

• evidence of key achievements during 2020-2021 

• recognise challenges and identify key priority areas for 2021-2022  
 

1.4. This annual report covers key performance activity for County Durham CCG 
provided by the health providers it commissions for the period from 1st April 2020 
to 31st March 2021. 

 

1.5. The report is produced in line with duties and responsibilities outlined in statutory 
guidance - Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked after Children3 which is 
issued to Local Authorities, NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England 
under sections 10 and 11 of the Children Act 20044. 

 

 

 

 
1 County Durham CCG superseded North Durham CCG and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG when they merged   

   on the 1st of April 2020 
2 Looked After Children: Roles and Competencies of Healthcare Staff 
3 Promoting the health and well-being of looked-after children Statutory guidance for local authorities, clinical commissioning groups and 

NHS England (DfE, DoH 2015) 
4 Children Act 2004  

Page 40

https://www.rcn.org.uk/professional-development/publications/rcn-looked-after-children-roles-and-competencies-of-healthcare-staff-uk-pub-009486
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents


 

5 
 

2. Introduction and Background 

 

2.1. The purpose of the report is to provide County Durham CCG Governing Body, key 
partners and members of the public with: an update on the planned developments 
identified in the previous CCGs Children who are Looked After Annual Report 2019-
2020; offer an overview of both the National and local population of Children who 
are Looked After by County Durham Council; outline the performance of NHS 
commissioned health services; evidence good practice and key achievements; 
recognise challenges and identify key priority areas for 2021-2022.The report 
covers the period from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. 
 

2.2. Children who are Looked After are referred to in legal terms as ‘Looked After 
Children’. In England and Wales the term ‘Looked After Children’ is defined in law 
under the Children Act 19895. A child is Looked After by a Local Authority if he or 
she is in their care or is provided with accommodation for more than 24 hours. 
Looked After Children fall into four main groups: 

• Children who are accommodated under voluntary agreement with their 
parents 

• Children who are the subject of a care order or interim care order 

• Children who are the subject of emergency orders for their protection 

• Children who are compulsorily accommodated; this includes children 
remanded to the Local Authority or subject to a criminal justice supervision 
order with a residence requirement 
 

2.3. The term ‘Looked After Children’ includes unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 
(UASC), children in friends and family placements, and those children where the 
agency has authority to place the child for adoption. It does not include those 
children who have been permanently adopted or who are subject to a special 
guardianship or residency order. 
 

2.4. Feedback from Children who are Looked After often indicates that they find it hard 
to relate to the term ‘Looked After Children’ and its abbreviated form of ‘LAC’. Many 
children and young people find it offensive to be defined in such a way, often 
sighting that the phrase may be misinterpreted as one that implies they ‘lack’ 
something as individuals. Children who are Looked After also highlight that every 
child is ‘looked after’ by someone and as such the phrase does not define the 
uniqueness of their situation when being parented by other carers. The remainder 
of this report will therefore refer to ‘Children in Care’ or ‘CiC’; the term ‘Looked After’ 
and ‘LAC’ will only be used in a legislative context. 
 

2.5. Most children enter the care system as a result of abuse and neglect. Although they 
have many of the same health issues as their peers, the extent of these is often 
greater because of their past adverse childhood experiences. For example, almost 
half of children in care have a diagnosable mental health disorder and two-thirds 
have special educational needs. Delays in identifying and meeting a child's 
emotional well-being and mental health needs can have far reaching effects on all 

 
5 Children Act 1989 

Page 41

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents


 

6 
 

aspects of their lives, including their chances of reaching their potential and leading 
happy and healthy lives as adults.  
 

2.6. Meeting the health needs of children and young people in care requires a clear 
focus on easy access to services. This approach can be assisted by commissioning 
effective services, delivery through provider organisations and ensuring availability 
of individual practitioners to provide and co-ordinate care. 
 

2.7. County Durham CCG can also influence health outcomes for CiC by acting as a 
‘Corporate Parent’. Corporate Parenting is a collective responsibility of the Local 
Authority (LA), elected members, employees, and partner agencies, to provide the 
best possible care and safeguarding for CiC.  "We want our children to be well, 
healthy and have good emotional and mental health". (Durham County Council 
Corporate Parenting Strategy)6. The Designated Nurse for Looked After Children is 
an active member of the County Durham Corporate Parenting Panel. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
6 Durham County Council Corporate Parenting Strategy for Children and Young People aged 0-25 years  

Page 42

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s132556/Item%209%20-%20CP%20Strategy%20-%20Appendix%202_.pdf


 

7 
 

3. Update on Planned Developments  

2020-2021 Priorities Update….. 
 

Further identify ways to ensure we include the voice of our Looked After children and young people A Care Experienced Young Person is now a member of the Looked After Children Health 
Needs Subgroup 

Health Report for Corporate Parenting Panel Annually and by exception The CCG Annual Children Looked After Report is now scheduled to be presented to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel once ratified by the CCG Governing Body 

Development of a health dashboard for Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys Trust A template has now been created and will be used within the Trust once ratified by the Trust 
 

Include Looked After Children assurance within commissioner assurance visits ensuring visits provide 
assurance that actions in regard to Looked After Children following inspections have had a sustained 
change to practice. 

Due to COVID restrictions Commissioner Assurance visits were deferred.  A programme of 
visits is scheduled to commence in Autumn 2021 and ensure assurance regarding Looked After 
Children by members of the CCG Safeguarding Team 

To work with GP practices to inform GPs about their responsibilities to care experienced children by 
progressing the Task and Finish Group gap analysis based on Children Looked After commissioning 
toolkit 
 

• A training session is scheduled to outline to GP Safeguarding Leads on Primary Care 
responsibilities towards Care Experienced children in Q1 of 2021-22  

• Training sessions for GP Practice staff are planned at the beginning of Q2 2021-22 
outlining requirements as stipulated within the Intercollegiate Document for CiC 

• The Gap Analysis although delayed due to the impact of COVID is in progress  

Increase compliance of Primary Care GP information to inform initial and review health assessments. 
 

Named GP liaises with individual GP practices to improve information sharing for health 
assessments 

The GP Template completed however requires further action to embed into primary care 
 

The full implementation of this has been delayed due to the demands placed on Primary Care 
colleagues but continues to be a priority for 2021-22.  A pilot of the template has been used 
with additional support from the CCG Medical Director which will be evaluated prior to full 
implementation across the county 

Continue the development of a process for health passports for those young people who are placed out 
of area and those requesting a passport post 18 years. 
 

• A Pathway is now in place to ensure all children placed out of area are offered a 
health passport 

• The GP is the point of contact for health information once adulthood has been reached 

IHA Quality assurance audit to be completed 
 

This has been delayed due to the unprecedented demands placed on paediatric services but 
remains a priority for 2021-22 

LAC outcomes multiagency audit to be completed with the agreed focus to include Care Experienced 
children, access to health assessments, mental health and emotional wellbeing, to include child/Young 
Person’s voice – did we listen? Were we accessible? 
 

This has been delayed due to the impact of COVID but a multi-agency Task and Finish Group 
is established and is proceeding with this initiative to link the priority with the Durham health 
needs assessment for children looked after 

Due to increase under1’s in Durham becoming looked after, plan a review of the pre-birth service 
including birth response plans and Early Help 

The CCG are now active members of the: 

• 'Pause' Board which works with women who have experienced, or are at risk of, 
repeated pregnancies that result in children needing to be removed from their care 

• Strategic Delivery Group for Vulnerable Pre-Birth and under 1-year olds in County 
Durham 

Digital task and finish group to be established to collaborate on developing a health assessment 
information animation for Durham and Darlington 
 

Funding has been granted for the development of a Health Summary 'App' across the North 
Cumbria and North East NHS England Region 

The impact of COVID -19 on looked after children and the assessments utilising the national 
questionnaire March – June identifying the views of children prior to reviews in September to include 
the voice of the child and influence of further services provision 

This has been delayed due to the impact of COVID but a summary report is underway which 
will be presented to the Children Looked After Strategic Partnership 

P
age 43



 

8 
 

4. Governance and Accountability  

 
4.1. The NHS has a major role in ensuring the timely and effective delivery of health 

services to Children who are in Care.  Statutory Guidance on Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies7 and the Safeguarding 
Accountability and Assurance Framework8 make clear the responsibilities of CCGs 
and NHS England to this vulnerable group of children. 

 
4.2. County Durham CCGs accountability for the discharge of statutory responsibilities 

for Children who are in Care sits with the Chief Officer.  Executive leadership is 
through the Director of Nursing and Quality who is also a member of the CCGs 
Governing Body. 

 
4.3. Children in Care reports are presented to the Quality Committee on a bi-monthly 

basis to appraise the CCG of current activity and developments and include 
performance reports for NHS commissioned health services against the specific 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

 
4.4. Accountability for Designated Professionals for Children in Care is set out within the 

Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework. Designated Professionals 
for CiC take a strategic and professional lead across the whole health economy 
providing expert advice and clinical expertise to the Clinical Commissioning Group, 
health providers and partner agencies by having a strategic overview on the specific 
health needs of the Children in Care cohort. 

 
4.5. On the 2nd of November 2020, a dedicated Designated Nurse for Children Looked 

After commenced a 0.76 WTE post.  This appointment was as a result of a number 
of staffing reviews following the Care Quality Commission review of health services 
for Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) Inspection which was 
undertaken in Durham in November 2016.   The report stated that the CCG should 
'Ensure there is sufficient capacity in the designated roles for safeguarding and 
looked-after children to meet national and local priorities for strategic development 
and effective governance'.  

 
4.6. CCGs are required to provide resources to support the provision of a service for 

children in care. The amount of resource required is clearly defined in the Looked 
After Children: roles and competencies of healthcare staff9.  In November 2020 a 
0.76 WTE dedicated Designated Nurse for Children in Care was welcomed into the 
children in care team.  

 
 

 

 

 
7 Statutory Guidance on Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies DoH 2013  
8 Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the NHS: Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance 
Framework 
9 Looked after Children: roles and competencies of healthcare staff Intercollegiate Document RCN, RCPCH 2020 

Page 44

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223842/Statutory-Guidance-on-Joint-Strategic-Needs-Assessments-and-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategies-March-2013.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-children-young-people-adults-at-risk-saaf-1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/safeguarding-children-young-people-adults-at-risk-saaf-1.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/looked-after-children-lac


 

9 
 

4.7. Meet the Team 
 

Alison Ferguson 
Designated Nurse  
Children Looked 

After 

Heather McFarlane 
Designated Nurse 
Safeguarding and  
Children Looked 

After 

Karen Watson 
Designated Nurse 
Safeguarding and 

Children Looked After 

Kirsty Yates 
Designated Doctor 

Children Looked After 

    
 

 

5. Profile of Children in Care 

 

5.1. The demographics for CiC nationally are taken from the government's Statistical 
First Release (SFR)10. The SFR is based on data from the children looked after 
return (also known as SSDA903) collected from all Local Authorities and is usually 
published in December for the year ending 31st March. The data below relates to 
the data published in December 2020 for the year ending 31st March 2020. 

 

5.2. National Profile of Children in Care 

 

5.2.1. Key Findings: 

• Children looked after on 31 March 2020 increased to 80,080, from 78,140  - 
up 2%. This is a rate of 67 per 10,000 children, up from 65 last year 

• Children starting to be looked after decreased to 30,970, from 31,770 last 
year - down 3%. 

• Children ceasing to be looked after were 29,590, very similar to 29,570 last 
year. 

• Children looked after who were adopted were 3,440, from 3,590 last year - 
down 4%. This continues the fall seen since a peak of 5,360 adoptions in 
2015. 

 
5.2.2. Health Findings: 

 

Of the 56,780 children looked after continuously for 12 months at 31 March 2020, 
national data indicated: 
 

Most Children Looked After are up to date with their health care with:  
 

 
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2019-to-2020  

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2019-to-2020


 

10 
 

• 88% reported as being up to date with their immunisations – up slightly from 
87% last year and 85% in 2018 

• 90% reported as having had their annual health assessment – the same as last 
year and up slightly from 88% in 2018 

• 86% reported as having had their teeth checked by a dentist – the same as last 
year and up from 84% in 2018 

• 88% of Under 5s reported as having an up to date development assessment – 
the same as last year and up from 85% in 2018 
 

Older children are less likely to be up to date with immunisations, particularly older 
males.  This could be influenced by the relatively large number of UASC in this 
category for whom immunisation history may not be known.  
 

5.3. Overview of County Durham's Children in Care 

 

5.3.1. The overall number of CiC for Durham has remained above the national 
average per 10,000 population. As of the 31st of March 2020, the number of 
CiC per 10,000 was 90 compared with the average for England which is 67 
per 10,000. 

 

5.3.2. Graph 1 indicates the total number of CiC across Durham County at the end 
of each financial year. As of 31st March 2021, the total cohort of children in 
the care of Durham County Council was 950 (This figure is yet to undergo 
final review prior to submission for the looked after return). This compares 
with 914 at the end of 2020, 845 at the end of 2019 and 803 at the end of 
2018 and demonstrates the upward trend in numbers of CiC. 

 

Graph 1: Number of Durham County Children In Care 2014 – 2021 

 

                 
 

5.3.3. Whilst the end of year figures above provides a general overview, 
consideration must be given to children who may enter and leave the care 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Number of Children Looked After on 31st March 

Page 46



 

11 
 

system throughout the year so the total number of children cared for over 
each period defined above will be higher. 

 

5.3.4. In 2019-2020, 166 children entered care in Durham County and 352 ceased 
to be Looked After. Children can cease to be Looked After by the Local 
Authority for a variety of reasons, including they: 

• Return to birth family 

• Become subject to a Special Guardianship Order (SGO) or a Residence 
Order 

• Transition to adulthood, independence and become Care Experienced 

• Are adopted 
 

5.4. Durham Children Placed out of County 

 

5.4.1. Where a Local Authority arrange accommodation for a CiC in the area of 
another CCG, the “originating CCG” remains the responsible CCG, and as 
such retains health commissioning responsibilities. 
 

5.4.2. Decisions to place children outside of the originating Local Authority area 
often relate to placements with family members or where a child requires 
provision to assist in reducing risks which may be related to Child 
Exploitation, Missing from Home or offending behaviours. Placements may 
also be influenced by the availability of foster carers within the Durham Local 
Authority boundary.  To support awareness raising of the increasing need for 
approved foster carers, the Designated Nurse is working with the Fostering 
Network11 and CCG HR colleagues to gain a 'Fostering Friendly Employer 
Award'. This will be a key area for development as we move into 2021-22. 
(Priority 1) 

 

5.4.3. In 2020, Durham County Council placed 228 children out of County Durham 
boundaries where County Durham CCG were the originating and responsible 
CCG. 154 (68%) of these children were placed outside the Local Authority 
boundary but remained 20 miles or less from their home address.  74 (32%) 
of these children were placed outside the Local Authority boundary and were 
more than 20 miles from their home.   

 

5.4.4. When children live away from their home authority there is a risk that they do 
not receive the support and help that they need12.  Assurance around health 
needs being addressed for these CiC is pursued via the use of robust quality 
assurance processes including the audit of all health assessments for 
children placed out of the Durham area. Escalation processes are embedded 
between the County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 
health team and the Designated Nurse for CiC if difficulties in the completion 
or quality of health assessments and access to health services are identified.  
Compliance against health assessments for this cohort of children will be 
discussed further in Section 9.    

 
11 Fostering Network 
12 From a distance Looked after children living away from their home area Ofsted (2014) 

Page 47

https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/
https://www.southportandformbyccg.nhs.uk/media/4172/sefton-ccgs-children-in-care-annual-report-2019-20-10-final.pdf


 

12 
 

6. Children placed in County Durham from other Local Authorities 

 

6.1. Who Pays? Responsible Commissioner Guidance (NHS England, 2020)13 states 
that individual CCGs have a responsibility for children and young people placed in 
the area who are receiving a primary care service. However, for CiC, the overall 
responsibility for co-ordinating the statutory health assessment remains with the 
originating CCG. 
 

6.2. CiC should never be refused a service, including mental health interventions, on the 
grounds that their placement is short-term or unplanned. CCGs and NHS England 
have a duty to cooperate with requests from local authorities to undertake health 
assessments and help them ensure support and services for CiC are provided 
without undue delay. Local Authorities, CCGs, NHS England and Public Health 
England must cooperate to commission health services for all children in their area. 
 

6.3. During 2020-21 information on children placed in County Durham by other Local 
Authorities who require a health assessment has not been formally reported but will 
be a key area for development for 2020-2021.  (Priority 2) 
 

 

7. Ethnicity 

 

7.1. The majority of CiC are of white ethnicity according to national statistics; 74% of 
children at 31st March 2020 were white, 10% were of mixed ethnicity, 4% were of 
Asian or Asian British ethnicity, 7% were of Black or Black British ethnicity and 4% 
were recorded as 'Other'. Since 2014, the proportion of looked after children of 
white ethnicity has decreased steadily from 78% to 74%, whilst the proportions of 
‘Asian or Asian British’ and ‘Other’ have increased slightly. It is likely this slight 
change is due to the broadly non-white make up of unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children, a group which has grown in numbers in recent years. 
 

7.2. At the 31st March 2020 Durham's CiC were 98% white and 1% mixed ethnicity, this 
data is similar to that of the previous year where 97% were recorded as being of 
white ethnicity and 2% as mixed ethnicity.  The figures of other ethnicities were too 
low to record. 
 

 

8. Commissioning arrangements of NHS health provision for Children in 

Care in County Durham 

 

8.1. CCGs are the main commissioners of health services; however, all commissioners 
of health services should have appropriate arrangements and resources in place to 
meet the physical and mental health needs of looked-after children14. 
 

 
13 Who-Pays-final-24082020-v2.pdf (england.nhs.uk) 
14 Promoting the Health and Well-Being of Looked After Children (DfE, DoH 2015)  

Page 48

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Who-Pays-final-24082020-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf


 

13 
 

8.2. County Durham CCG commission the Initial Health Assessment provision from 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT).  County Durham 
Local Authority Public Health commission Review Health Assessments for County 
Durham children living within the Local Authority boundary from Harrogate and 
District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) who provide the Healthy Child 0-19 Service.  
 

8.3. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) are commissioned from 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) with Durham County 
Council commissioning additional mental health support from Full Circle for children 
in care. 
 

8.4. County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) 

 

8.4.1. CDDFT delivers the medical services for CiC and those with a plan of 
adoption. The team includes a Named Doctor for CiC, experienced 
Paediatricians with expertise in neurodevelopment, who together, complete 
all Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) and adoption medicals for children in 
the County Durham area.   

 

8.4.2. The Medical Advisors are involved in all stages of the adoption process for 
children and adults. Medical Advisors also attend permanence panels and 
are responsible for analysing medical information for foster carers and 
prospective adopters.   

 

8.4.3. County Durham CCG commission CDDFT to provide the Designated Doctor 
for CiC function which is currently undertaken by an experienced Consultant 
Paediatrician in Neurodevelopmental Paediatrics who also has some provider 
responsibility, including CiC clinics. Additional resource is available from the 
Community Paediatric Team and Medical Advisors. 

 

8.4.4. The Named Nurse for CiC in addition to dedicated administrative support 
oversees the coordination of Review Health Assessments (RHAs) for County 
Durham CiC. The CiC nursing team is commissioned to deliver Review 
Health Assessments to County Durham children placed out of the Local 
Authority boundary but within a 20-mile radius and to children placed within 
County Durham Local Authority boundary by other Local Authorities. In 
addition, the Named Nurse for CiC has oversight and responsibility for the 
management of requests for out of borough CiC health teams to deliver care, 
in particular IHAs and RHAs, for County Durham children placed out of area. 

 
8.5. Harrogate and District Foundation Trust (HDFT) 

 

8.5.1. HDFT 0-19 Healthy Child Service undertake Review Health Assessments for 
County Durham children living within the County Durham Local Authority 
boundary. The Trust also support children living in the Local Authority 
Residential Children's Homes. 
 

 

Page 49



 

14 
 

9. Statutory Health Assessments 

 

9.1. Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) 

 

9.1.1. All IHAs should be completed by a qualified medical practitioner which is a 
requirement set out in statutory guidance15. The IHA should result in a health 
plan, which is available to the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) in time 
for the first statutory review meeting. That case review must happen within 20 
working days from when the child started to be looked after16.  

 

9.1.2. To comply with the statutory 20 working day timescale, there is a reliance on 
strong partnership working and excellent communication pathways between 
the Local Authority and the commissioned CiC health team.   

 

9.1.3. Timely notification is just one element of the IHA pathway to be fulfilled if 
compliance with statutory timescales is to be achieved. Streamlined provision 
that considers available resource, robust communication and a shared 
understanding of practitioner/organisational responsibilities is essential.  
 

9.1.4. Currently, reporting on compliance focusses on the health assessment being 
undertaken within 20 working days not if the health plan is returned in time for 
the first Looked After Review.  The date for the first looked after review has 
not previously been shared with the health team but is an area for 
development during 2021-2022. (Priority 3) 

 

9.1.5. In 2019-2020, 325 children entered the care of County Durham Council 
however only 318 of these required an IHA to be completed. The difference 
between the number of children entering care and the number who require an 
IHA relates to those children who entered care briefly and left before the 20-
day timeframe. 

 

9.1.6. Table 2 outlines the compliance per quarter during the last 2 reporting 
periods and demonstrates a relatively static picture. 

 
          Table 2: Compliance for Initial Health Assessments 

 

 
9.1.7. During 2020-21 11 children who required an Initial Health Assessment were 

placed out of area compared to 12 children placed out of area during 2019-

 
15 Promoting the Health and Well-Being of Looked After Children (DfE, DoH 2015) 
16 Regulation 33(1) of the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 2010 

Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) 
2019-2020 2020 - 2021 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Percentage of IHAs undertaken within 
Statutory timeframes (within 20 working 
days) 

65% 77% 69% 81% 84% 69% 65% 74% 

Page 50

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413368/Promoting_the_health_and_well-being_of_looked-after_children.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/959/regulation/33/made


 

15 
 

20.  Table 3 outlines the compliance for these assessments being undertaken 
within statutory timeframes which represents a more concerning picture for 
this cohort of children.   

 

Table 3: Compliance for Initial Health Assessments for Children Placed Out of 

Area  

Out of Area IHAs 
2019-2020 2020 - 2021 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

% of Out of Area IHAs undertaken within 
Statutory timeframes (within 20 working 
days) 

60% 67% 0% N/A 0% 67% 0% 50% 

 

9.1.8. There is a clear requirement to improve IHA performance as experienced 
during 2019-20 and 2020-21 particularly for those children placed out of area. 
Part of this ongoing improvement journey is being able to work with partner 
agencies to identify the barriers and implement solutions to reoccurring 
themes that prevent compliance within statutory timescales being achieved. 
All breaches against IHA performance are reported to the CCG on a quarterly 
basis. During 2020-21 the main reasons for IHAs not being returned to 
Durham Local Authority within statutory timescales are displayed in Graph 2.  

 
Graph 2: Reasons for IHA Non-Compliance 

 
 

9.1.9. A significant theme relates to delays in the necessary paperwork being 
received by the Trust from the Local Authority.  If the child is moved in an 
emergency, the notifications should happen within five working days where 7 
working days had been used.  The Designated Nurse has addressed the 
statutory timeframes with Local Authority colleagues to ensure a timely 
notification and will continually be monitored during 2021-22. (Priority 3) 
 
 

 

Page 51



 

16 
 

9.2. Review Health Assessments (RHAs) 

 

9.2.1. Review Health Assessments (RHAs) may be carried out by a registered 
nurse or registered midwife. The review of the child’s health plan must 
happen at least once every six months before a child’s fifth birthday and at 
least once every 12 months after the child’s fifth birthday. 

 

9.2.2. The majority of RHAs are undertaken by Health Visitors and School Nurses 
depending on the age of the child.  The HDFT 0-19 Healthy Child Service 
staff undertake RHAs for County Durham children living within the Durham 
Local Authority boundary. The CDDFT health team complete RHAs for 
Durham children placed out of the Local Authority area within a 20-mile 
radius and children placed within the County Durham boundary by other 
Local Authorities. 

 

9.2.3. Due to the historic commissioning arrangements CDDFT do not currently 
provide information on the overall compliance for RHAs required for all 
County Durham children.  This is a key area for development during 2021-22 
(Priority 2)  

 

9.2.4. Table 4 outlines the compliance for RHAs undertaken by HDFT yet does not 
differentiate between those required on a 6 monthly or annual basis.  Babies 
and children under the age of 5 years will have rapidly changing 
developmental needs and it is key to ensure these are being reviewed in a 
timely manner.  This is an area for development for 2021-22 (Priority 2) 

 
Table 4 HDFT Review Health Assessment compliance  

 
 

9.2.5. During 2020-21 83 children who required a Review Health Assessment were 
placed out of area compared to 63 children placed out of area during 2019-
20.  Table 5 outlines the compliance for these assessments being undertaken 
within statutory timeframes which again is a concerning picture for this cohort 
of children. 

 

Table 5: Review Health Assessment compliance for Children Placed Out of 

Area 

 
 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Percentage of RHAs undertaken within 

Statutory timeframes 
81% 78% 81% 82% 84% 85% 83% 77%

Review Health Assessments (RHAs)
2021-2022 2020 - 2021

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

% of Out of Area RHAs undertaken within 

Statutory timeframes*
21% 33% 38% 33% 60% 75% 43% 53%

2019-2020 2020 - 2021Out of Area Review Health Assessments 

(RHAs)

Page 52



 

17 
 

9.2.6. The CCG monitors performance against RHA compliance via Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). KPIs for completion of RHAs are based 
around the date the RHA is due to be completed. Therefore, if a health 
assessment is completed following that date it fails to achieve the KPI. All 
breaches against the KPI are reported to the CCG on a quarterly basis. 
During 2020-21 the main reasons for the RHAs commissioned from HDFT 
not being completed within timeframes are displayed in Graph 3. Little 
information is provided for why so many RHAs are not undertaken within 
timeframes and this needs to be fully understood to inform future service 
improvement.  This is a key area for development during 2021-22 (Priority 2) 

 

Graph 3: Reasons for HDFT non-compliance 

 
 

 

10. Local Health Indicators 

 

10.1. Children who have remained in care for a period of more than one year 
should experience an improved quality of life, not least of all evidencing 
improvements in holistic health. The SSDA903 return provides crucial data to 
both the Local Authority and CCGs in understanding the needs of this cohort 
of children to enable the commissioning of health services which focus on 
improving outcomes. Table 6 provides an overview of the health outcomes of 
County Durham children in care over the last eight years as currently 
monitored.  However, a more comprehensive health needs analysis is 
underway and will be a key area for development during 2021-2022. (Priority 
4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 

18 
 

Table 6: Health Outcomes for County Durham Children in Care 

 
 

 

 

10.2. Dental Health 
 

10.2.1 All CiC and their carers are encouraged to register with a local dentist of their 
choice with advice relating to oral hygiene being provided by health practitioners 
completing statutory health assessments. Practitioners completing the child or 
young person's health assessment must record the dental practice and dates of 
appointments attended.  
 

10.2.2 Compliance for Durham children being seen by a dentist has always been similar to 
the National average and was 86% during 2018-19 and 87% in 2019-20.  However, 
during this reporting period, compliance has dropped significantly to 41% as a direct 
result of the restrictions imposed on face-to-face appointments during the first wave 
of the pandemic.  The Designated Nurse for Children in Care brought this issue to 
the attention of Public Health England who commission dental services.  Improving 
compliance to previous levels for dental health assessments will continue to be a 
key priority as children in care are classified as a vulnerable group and should be 
prioritised for dental reviews. (Priority 4)   
 

10.3 Immunisations 
 

10.3.1 Research suggests that CiC often enter the system with incomplete immunisations. 

It is therefore a priority of the Local Authority and health care providers to ensure 

that these children are brought in line with the national immunisation schedule as 

recommended by Public Health England (PHE). 

 
10.3.2 Immunisation status during 2018-19 and 2019-20 was 99% which is above the 

National average.  However, it is anticipated that this figure has decreased to 90% 

0

20

40

60

80

100

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21*

Health Outcomes 

Percentage of children whose immunisations were up to date %

Percentage of children who had their teeth checked by a dentist %

Percentage of children who had their annual health assessment %

Percentage of children whose development assessments were up to date %

Page 54



 

19 
 

during this reporting period.  This may be due to the impact of the pandemic, but it 
is recognised this will need to be a specific focus during 2021-22. (Priority 4) 

 
10.4 Health Development Checks 
 
10.4.1 Health Developments Checks are completed for all children aged under 5 years. 

For purposes of the SSDA903 a child is considered up-to-date if child health 
surveillance or child health promotion checks have taken place by 31st March, even 
if they took place later than they should have done. If a child has missed all their 
previous health checks except the most recent, they should still be counted as 
being up-to-date. 

 
10.4.2 The provisional data for 31st March 2021 provided by Durham County Council 

shows 83% of under 5’s were up to date with health development checks. This is a 
decrease on 2019-20 where 97% was achieved however is similar to the England 
average of 88% and the North East average of 86%. This decrease will be explored 
further once the data has been ratified. 

 
10.5 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire  
 
10.5.1 Currently half of all children in care nationally meet the criteria for a possible mental 

health disorder, compared to one in ten children outside the care system. This can 
be because of their pre and post care experiences which often include attachment 
difficulties, trauma and the effects of abuse on the developing brain. Understanding 
and meeting the emotional and behavioural needs of looked-after children is 
crucially important. 

 

10.5.2 Local authorities are required to use the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire 
(SDQ) to assess the emotional well-being of individual looked-after children. The 
SDQ is a short behavioural screening questionnaire for use with 4–16-year-olds. 
The questionnaire is used to assess children’s emotional well-being and mental 
health and is completed by the child's carers and teachers and can be completed by 
children and young people themselves, (11-17 years of age). It is the identified tool 
within statutory guidance for assessing the emotional well-being of CiC and 
promoted by Durham County Council17 although nationally it is accepted to have 
limitations and alternatives are being explored. 

 
10.5.3 The Local Authority collects information contained within the completed 

questionnaires and calculates the child’s total score and then shares this with the 
health team to inform the child’s RHA. The RHA needs to reference any actions 
arising from the SDQ in relation to emotional and mental wellbeing of young people 
and should be included in the updated Care Plan. This all needs to be included in 
the Looked After Review with the oversight of the IRO and shared with the Virtual 
School. 

 
 
 
 

 
17 Durham County Council SDQs Practice Guidance  

Page 55

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30841/Strengths-and-Difficulties-Questionnaires-SDQs-Practice-Guidance/pdf/StrengthsDifficultiesQuestionnairesPracticeGuidance.pdf?m=637032864651930000


 

20 
 

11 Mental Health Services for Children 

 
11.1 County Durham Children and Young People Service commission a specialist 

integrated mental health team called 'Full Circle' that is dedicated to working with 
Durham CiC and Care Experienced children. The Full Circle have an important role 
in responding to mental health needs of children in care and adopted children.  Full 
Circle is a social work led team, made up of Therapeutic Social Workers employed 
by the Local Authority, including a Consultant Clinical Psychologist and Clinical 
Nurse Specialist, who are employed via and have links with the local Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) service within Tess, Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
11.2 Full Circle utilise a trauma informed approach to assist placement stability by 

supporting the children’s foster carers and adopters, social workers, residential 
staff, educational staff and the child’s care team to support the child's recovery from 
complex trauma and abuse. The Team can support children placed in neighbouring 
Local Authorities by working across geographical boundaries to ensure the child 
does not suffer as a result of being placed outside Durham Local Authority 
boundary. Full Circle will be the gateway to referrals to Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) if then required for a child or young person in care. 

 
11.3 County Durham CCG also commission a range of services to support children and 

young people with mental health difficulties from the Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
NHS Foundation Trust's (TEWV) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS).  Services are delivered by a tiered approach depending on clinical 
presentation and need (Tier 1, Tier 2 and Tier 3) whilst NHS England commissioned 
Tier 4 services for those children with the highest or most complex needs which 
require inpatient mental health care. 

 
11.4 The service specification for CAMHS specifically ensures that children in care are 

not refused a service on the grounds of their placement being short-term or 
unplanned.  However, although waiting times and access to services are reported 
through the Trust's Mental Health Dataset, reporting frameworks do not currently 
provide detailed information regarding the number of children in care accessing 
mental health support and what their specific needs are or their outcomes.  This is 
still a key area for development and will be addressed during 2021-22. (Priority 2) 

 
11.5 A significant challenge faced both nationally and locally is the demand on Tier 4 

beds and secure settings due to the complex needs some of our children in care 
are experiencing. County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust and Tees, Esk 
and Wear Valleys Trust continue supporting these young people until an 
appropriate placement is identified. The Designated Nurse for Children in Care now 
liaises with counterparts if placements are out of the County Durham locality to 
ensure partners are aware of the placement move and are aware of the child’s 
needs and additional vulnerabilities. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 

21 
 

12 Care Leavers 

 
12.1 The legal definition of a care leaver comes from The Children (Leaving Care) Act 

200018 states that a Care Leaver is a sixteen- or seventeen-year-old child who has 
been in the care of the Local Authority for a period of thirteen weeks or more 
spanning their sixteenth birthday. 

 
12.2 CCGs must make sure arrangements are in place to ensure a smooth transition for 

looked-after children and care leavers whilst moving from child to adult health 
services. 

 
12.3 Health professionals and social workers should also ensure that there are suitable 

transition arrangements in place so that the child’s health needs continue to be met. 
They should ensure that care leavers have, or know how to obtain, the information 
they require about their medical history and what health services, advice and 
support are available locally to meet their ongoing and future needs. This 
information is often contained within a document referred to as the 'Health 
Passport'.  The Local Authority can request a Health Passport for each child from 
County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust six months prior to the child 
leaving care or offered at pathway planning when the child turns 16.  

 

 

13 Safeguarding Children in Care 

 

13.1 There is often a misconception that children are deemed as 'safe' once they enter 
care.  However, several reports19 20 21 highlight that this is far from the reality.  
Children who are care experienced can be more vulnerable to exploitation due to 
being targeted by gangs either at schools or children's home settings.  

 
13.2 Where a child in care is at risk of or thought to being exploited, they will be referred 

for discussion at the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership Multi Agency Child 
Exploitation Group (CEG).  Here, representatives from several key agencies attend 
to ensure risks are robustly discussed and a multi-agency plan is devised and 
reviewed accordingly.  The Deputy Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children 
represents the CCG at this meeting. 

 
 

14 Role of Primary Care 

 
14.1 Primary Care providers have a pivotal role in the identification of the health needs of 

children and young people as they enter or leave care. GPs often have prior 
knowledge of the child/young person and their parent's medical histories which may 
impact on the child.  It is very well documented that the lead health record for a 
looked-after child is the GP-held record.  It is crucial therefore that the clinical 

 
18 Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 
19 County Lines and Looked After Children Crest 2020 
20 Sexual and criminal exploitation of missing looked after children House of Commons 2019 
21 Real Voices Child sexual exploitation in Greater Manchester Coffey 2014 

Page 57

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/35/section/1/enacted
https://b9cf6cd4-6aad-4419-a368-724e7d1352b9.usrfiles.com/ugd/b9cf6c_83c53411e21d4d40a79a6e0966ad7ea5.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CDP-2019-0226/CDP-2019-0226.pdf
https://www.rochdaleonline.co.uk/uploads/f1/news/document/20141029_222448.pdf


 

22 
 

record for a looked-after child is maintained and updated and that health records 
are transferred quickly if the child registers with a new GP practice, such as when 
he or she moves into another CCG area, leaves care or is adopted. 

 
14.2 GP practices should also ensure timely access to a GP or other appropriate health 

professional when a looked-after child requires a consultation.  Due to the impact of 
the pandemic, GP appointments have often been offered on a virtual basis.  This 
may have been favoured by some young people due to their preference for a digital 
platform however, will not be the preference of others and a blended approach to 
appointments should be promoted. 

 
14.3 Practices knowing their child in care and care experienced population is key to 

offering timely access to appointments for future health needs and is an area for 
development during 2021-22. (Priority 4) 

 
14.4 Due to the impact of the pandemic, the Designated Professionals for Children in 

Care had to postpone a series of training sessions outlining GP responsibilities 
towards Children in Care and those Care Experienced children specifically 
focussing on how a trauma informed care approach is needed for this cohort of 
patients.  These have now been rescheduled early in the 2021-22 reporting period. 

 
 

15 Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 

15.1 At the beginning of this reporting period the impact of the pandemic was at its 
greatest and the country was in a 'lockdown'.  NHS England & NHS Improvement 
had published revised guidance on how providers of community services could 
release capacity to support the response to the COVID19 pandemic22.  This 
included risk stratifying Initial Health Assessments and the consideration of using 
virtual platforms to facilitate attendance by key staff who may be at the front-line of 
the COVID-19 response. 

 
15.2 The Government also published temporary regulations affecting social care 

colleagues23.  This included how health reviews for proposed adult foster carers 
could continue by virtual GP appointments. 

 
15.3 Designated Professionals linked into the National Network of Designated Health 

Professionals (NNDHP) who held daily virtual meetings initially. These virtual 
meetings discussed national themes arising from the pandemic and ensured 
oversight of plans being proposed to manage post surge issues whilst supporting 
system wide learning and the sharing of information.  The NNDHP worked closely 
with NHS England, the Royal Colleges of Nursing and Paediatricians. 

 

 
22 https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/covid-19-prioritisation-within-community-health-services-
with-annex_19-march-2020/  
23 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-
services/covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-services#fostering  

Page 58

https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/covid-19-prioritisation-within-community-health-services-with-annex_19-march-2020/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/covid-19-prioritisation-within-community-health-services-with-annex_19-march-2020/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-services/covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-services#fostering
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-services/covid-19-guidance-for-childrens-social-care-services#fostering


 

23 
 

15.4 CCG representation has been available at Local Authority Covid19 planning 
meetings including the Safeguarding Partnership COVID-19 - safeguarding 
assurance meeting 

 
15.5 Weekly NHS England (Cumbria and North East Region) Designated Professionals' 

meetings were convened to review localised trends, themes and any emerging 
issues which were then shared regionally and nationally. 

 
15.6 Clinical Quality Review Groups were stood down, however quarterly reporting 

continued for health assessment compliance with oversight from the Health Needs 
Sub-Group of the Strategic Looked After Children Partnership. 

 
 

16 Conclusion 
 
16.1 This annual report has provided an overview of the CiC population both nationally 

and locally and has outlined the performance of NHS commissioned services during 
2020-21. 

 
16.2 The numbers of Durham CiC have continued to increase year on year with 2020-21 

seeing further increases. The resources required to deliver a quality service to this 
cohort of children will require continued evaluation to ensure this is not 
compromised. 

 
16.3 There has been unprecedented challenges on all services as a direct result of the 

COVID Pandemic.  Despite this, the services delivered to children in care have 
continued to be delivered overall. 

 

17 Key Areas for Development for 2021-22 

 

Priority 1 – Supporting the Local Authority in the recruitment of foster carers 

• Continue to work with CCG HR colleagues and the Fostering Network to 

gain the 'Fostering Friendly Employer Award' 

Priority 2 – Improve Data Collection to ensure: 

• Data for children in care placed in County Durham where known is 

shared 

• Overall compliance for RHAs will be included in quarterly reports 

• Compliance reports will distinguish those RHAs required on a six 

monthly and annual basis 

• Breaches on RHA compliance will be analysed to inform future service 

delivery  

• The number of Children in care accessing CAMHS services and their 

needs are fully understood  

Page 59



 

24 
 

     Priority 3 – Work with Local Authority colleagues to: 

• Facilitate the date of the first Looked After Review is communicated to 

the Trust to facilitate a timely IHA appointment 

• Augment the information sharing pathways following a child entering 

care and relevant documentation is distributed to the Foundation Trust 

in a contemporaneous manner 

     Priority 4 – Health outcomes for children in care and those care experienced   

                         continue to improve 

• Health Needs Analysis to be complete to inform future service delivery 

• Continue to liaise with NHS England colleagues to ensure children in 

care are prioritised by dental practices across the region 

• Immunisation campaign to be promoted  

• Explore the implementation of a 'Care Experienced' READ Code to 

enable Primary Care Practitioners to respond to appointment requests 

and utilise a trauma informed response to this cohort of patients 

Page 60



Health Update for County Durham 

Corporate Parenting Panel

Alison Ferguson 

Designated Nurse Children In Care

P
age 61



Statutory Requirements:

The local authority that looks after the 

child must arrange for them to have a 

health assessment as required by The 

Care Planning, Placement and Case 

Review (England) Regulations 2010

• The initial health assessment must 

be done by a registered medical 

practitioner

• Review health assessments may 

be carried out by a registered 

nurse or registered midwife

• The health assessments result in 

an individual health plan which 

then forms part of the child’s 

overall care plan.

P
age 62



Commissioning Arrangements:

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group NHS England / Improvement County Durham Public Health

County Durham & Darlington Foundation Trust

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys Foundation Trust

Medical Services:

· Named Doctor

· Paediatricians

· Medical Advisors

Nursing Services:

· Named Nurse

· Specialist Nurses

· Named Nurse

· Specialist Nurses for Children in Care

· 0 - 25 Practitioners

Harrogate & District Foundation Trust

Dentists

Specialist Commissioning

Primary Care

Substance Misuse Services

All children in care should have easy 

access to a dentist

                   "Gums on Seats"

Open to all young people up to the age of 21

· Lead GP for Safeguarding and 

Children in Care

No specific arrangements but NEAS are 'live' with 

CP-IS the Child Protection Information System 

which helps identify those children who are have 

increased vulnerabilities

Sexual Health Services

Highly specialist in-patient mental 

health services

An Antenatal Contraception Plan is offered to 

care experienced women up to the age of 25

A range of services to support children and young 

people with mental health difficulties from the 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust's 

(TEWV) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

(CAMHS).   

North East Ambulance Service

P
age 63



Achievements

• Successful recruitment of a 0.76 WTE dedicated Designated Nurse for 

Children in Care

• Exception reports provided when compliance not achieved for Health 

Assessments

• Development of a Health Dashboard 

• Pathway now in place for Health Passports being offered

• Children In Care is now a key focus within training for Primary Care 

Professionals

• Work with the Fostering Network to achieve the ‘Fostering Friendly Employer’ 

Award

P
age 64



Challenges

• Increasing number of children entering care

• Increasing number of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC)

• Impact of COVID-19

• Availability of Specialist In-Patient Services

P
age 65



Priorities

• Supporting the Local Authority in the recruitment of foster carers

• Improve Data Collection 

• Work with Local Authority colleagues to augment information sharing 

processes

• Health outcomes for children in care and those care experienced                           

continue to improve

P
age 66



P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Care Leavers Hub

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 12



P
age 70



Care Leavers 
Hub
• Our Care Leavers have led 

on a project to establish 
the first of several safe 
spaces in Durham where 
they can engage with 
services and each other.

• A schedule of planned 
activities annually is in 
place as well as lots of 
opportunities to hang out 
and feel cared for.

P
age 71



Care Leavers led 

• Opportunities for multi agency work.

• Private and safe.

• Structured group work.

• Individual direct work.

• Place to get warm, clean and fed.

• Space to enjoy things together.

• Space to receive care and nurture.

P
age 72



P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on Friday 18 February 2022
	8 Investing in Children / Children in Care Council Update - Presentation by Project Officer, Investing in Children
	9 Performance Update Quarter 3 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	Item 9 - Performance scorecard Q3
	Item 9 - Performance presentation Q3

	11 Annual Health Report  - Report of Designated Nurse for Children Looked After, County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group
	Item 11 - Health Report - Appendix 2 - CCG Annual Report 2021
	Item 11 - Health Report - Presentation

	12 Care Leavers' Hub - Presentation by Head of Children's Social Care
	16 Regulation 44 visits and Regulatory Body ratings of Children's Residential homes - Report of Head of Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children
	ITEM 16 Exempt App 2
	Item 16 - PART B - Reg 44 - Appendix 3 - Durham Recommendations PDF VERSION


